A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Defendants Rockwood Clinic, P.S. and Community Health 

Systems Professional Services Corporation 1 (hereinafter "Rockwood" and 

"CHSPSC" or collectively "Defendants") ask this Court to accept review 

of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review, designated in Part 

B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

Defendants request the Supreme Court review the decision of 
' 

Division III of the Court of Appeals, entered on August 14, 2014 

(Appendix at pages A- 001- 034) and its denial ofDefendants' Motion for 

Reconsideration on September 18, 2014. (A-035). 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals 

conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court in Korslund v. Dyncorp 

Tri-Cities Servs., 156 Wn.2d 168, 125 P .3d 119 (2005) and Cudney v. 

ALSCO, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 524, 259 P.3d 244 (2011), and with the decision 

of Division I ofthe Court of Appeals in Weiss v. Lonnquist, 173 Wn. App 

344, 293 P .3d 1264 (20 13 ), review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1025, 312 P .3d 652 

(2013) and Division III's own decisions in Rose v. Anderson Hay and 

1 The Court of Appeals Opinion ("Opinion") erroneously refers to Community Health 
Systems Inc. as a petitioner. Community Health Systems Inc. was dismissed by the trial 
court for lack of personal jurisdiction. [CP 916-920] CHSPSC is the proper party. 
Community Health Systems Inc. is not a party to this action. 



Grain Co., 168 Wn. App. 474,478,276 P.3d 382 (2012), review granted 

and remanded, 180 Wn.2d 1001, 327 P.3d 613 (2014), on remand at_ 

Wn. App. _, 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS 2359 (Sept. 25, 2014) and Rupert 

v. Kennewick Irrigation Dist., 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS 2449 (Division III 

Oct. 14, 2014)(A-077-089)? 

2. Should the Supreme Court accept review ofthis case to address 

an issue of substantial public importance and resolve the significant 

uncertainty and conflict in the application and interpretation of the law 

pertaining to the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy? 

3. If a statute provides a non-exclusive remedy, does the Supreme 

Court's decision in Pie! v. City of Federal Way, 177 Wn.2d 604, 306 P.3d 

879 (2013) mandate the conclusion that the jeopardy element is met, even 

though the statute provides comprehensive criminal, civil and 

administrative enforcement mechanisms which are more than adequate to 

protect the public policy? 

4. Is the public policy of honest financial reporting promoted by 

permitting a corporate officer of an SEC-reporting company, who resigns 

his employment without whistleblowing, to seek private redress through a 

tort claim, where Congress has created a comprehensive scheme of 

remedies which requires the officer to report the alleged securities fraud so 

that action can be taken to protect the public? 

2 



D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Factual Background 

Plaintiff Gregg Becker ("Becker") alleges that Community Health 

Systems, Inc. ("CHSI") is a publicly-traded company that must file reports 

with the SEC. 2 (CP 728) Becker alleges that Rockwood was acquired by 

CHSI (CP 726-727) and that all reporting ofRockwood's financial results 

must be accurate to avoid misleading "creditors and investors about 

Rockwood's (and thereby CHS's) financial health." (CP 729) 

As Rockwood's Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), Becker alleges 

he submitted projections for "earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 

and amortization" ("EBITDA") showing what he believed was an 

"accurate" predicted operating loss for Rockwood in 2012 of$12 million. 

(CP 733) Becker then alleges that supervisors asked him to recalculate his 

projection to show how Rockwood could achieve its target budget 

EBITDA loss of$4 million. (CP 734) 

Becker repeatedly alleges that he reported to Rockwood's CEO 

and to CHSPSC's internal auditor, among others, his concerns that the 

EBITDA figure was inaccurate and could mislead investors. (CP 736, 

739, 741, 744) Becker alleges he was constructively discharged because 

2 The plaintiffs factual allegations are presumed true for purposes of a CR 12(b)(6) 
motion. Lawson v. State, 107 Wn.2d 444, 448, 730 P.2d 1308 (1986); Haberman v. 
Wash. Pub. PowerSupplySys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 120,744 P.2d 1032 (1987). 
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he would have been required to '"engage in improper accounting practices 

and corporate fraud" ifhe had continued in his job. (CP 773-774) 

2. Procedural Background 

On February 27, 2012, Becker filed a Complaint in Spokane 

County Superior Court, alleging a state law claim for wrongful discharge 

in violation of public policy and alleging a federal claim. (CP 3-22; 724-

749) Two days later, Becker filed a complaint with OSHA, alleging 

discriminatory employment practices in violation of the Sarbanes-Oxley 

Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1514A ('"SOX"). (CP 209-222) In his OSHA complaint, 

as in his state court complaint, Becker asserted that, as CFO, he was 

directed to provide misleading financial information for CHSI to use with 

investors and credit facilities, and was constructively discharged. (CP 216) 

On March 29,2012, Rockwood removed the case to the United 

States District Court for the Eastern District of Washington, based on 

federal question jurisdiction arising from Becker's SOX claim. (CP 25-

94) To facilitate his motion to remand, Becker sought permission to file 

an Amended Complaint to delete the basis for federal question jurisdiction 

(i.e., the SOX claim). (CP 659-74, 302-316) The District Court granted 

Becker's motion (CP 720-723), and he filed an Amended Complaint that 

is virtually identical to his original Complaint except that it removed all 

specific references to SOX, instead citing to '"numerous financial reporting 
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requirements by statute and by ethical codes." (CP 724-48) In light of 

this revision, the U.S. District Court ordered the case to be remanded to 

Superior Court on May 30, 2012. (CP 749-50; 96-97) 

With the case back in Superior Court, Defendants filed a CR 

12(b)(6) motion to dismiss Becker's Complaint because he cannot satisfy 

the jeopardy element of his public policy claim. ( CP 802-820, 1318) The 

Superior Court denied the motion. (CP 1 024-26) Pursuant to RAP 

2.3(b)(4), the Superior Court certified the Order was appropriate for 

discretionary review because of the importance of the disputed jeopardy 

issue and its dispositive effect. (CP 1309-12) 

While the matter was pending in the Court of Appeals, on July 23, 

2014, OSHA issued a determination on Becker's SOX complaint ("SOX 

Decision"), confirming its jurisdiction over Becker's SOX complaint, 

rejecting Becker's complaint on the merits, and setting forth the 

administrative review procedure available to Becker to challenge the SOX 

Decision. (A-042-043) Becker appealed the SOX Decision. (A-055-076).3 

On August 14, 2014 the Court of Appeals issued its opinion 

3 Defendants filed a Motion to Supplement the Record With Post-Argument 
Development on August 13, 2014 to include the SOX Decision in the appellate record 
before the Court of Appeals. (A-035-048) Defendants filed a Second Motion To 
Supplement Record With Post-Argument Development, requesting permission to 
supplement the Court of Appeals record with Becker's August 21, 2014 appeal of the 
SOX Decision to an Administrative Law Judge. (A-049-076) The motion to supplement 
the record was granted. (A-035). 
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affirming the Superior Court's decision denying dismissal of Becker's 

public policy claim. (A-001-034) Defendants' Motion for 

Reconsideration was denied. (A-035) 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the Supreme Court's 

decisions in Korslund and Cudney and conflicts with Division I' s decision 

in Weiss and Division III's decision in Rose. RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (2). 

This Petition for Review involves an issue of substantial public interest 

that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(4). 

The Court of Appeals erred by finding that SOX does not 

adequately promote the public policy ofhonesty in corporate financial 

reporting. The remedies under SOX are almost identical to the remedies 

under the ERA, which Kors/und found to be adequate. The Court of 

Appeals acknowledged that SOX provides a "comprehensive" remedy but 

held that the non-exclusivity clause bars the court from finding that SOX 

is adequate, citing Pie/ at 617. Notably, the ERA also contains a non

exclusivity clause, but Pie/ did not overrule Kors/und 's holding that the 

ERA provides an adequate remedy, despite the non-exclusivity clause. 

The Court of Appeals also erred by finding that the panoply of 

other state and federal statutes and law enforcement mechanisms are 

inadequate to promote the public policy because they are too "uncertain." 
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The federal government's ability-through the SEC, FBI, and DOJ-to 

investigate and prosecute financial fraud is just as certain, if not more so, 

than the state police's ability to prevent drunk driving or the bar 

association's ability to prevent perjury. See Cudney, 172 Wn.2d at 536 

(holding that the DUI laws adequately protected the public policy); Weiss 

173 Wn. App. at 359 (holding that the bar association adequately 

protected the public policy). Division III's Becker decision directly 

conflicts with Cudney and Weiss. 

Because Division III's Becker opinion conflicts with Supreme 

Court precedent and other appellate court decisions, the current state of 

law for Washington's public policy tort is impossible to reconcile and 

cannot provide clear guidance for employers and employees to determine 

their respective rights and responsibilities. 

1. This Case is Squarely Controlled by Korslund, but the 
Court of Appeals Refused to Apply Korslund 

To satisfy the jeopardy element of a public policy wrongful 

discharge claim, a plaintiff must show that other means of 

promoting the public policy are inadequate, and that the actions the 

plaintiff took were the only available adequate means to promote 

the public policy. Korslund, 156 Wn.2d at 181-82; Cudney, 172 

Wn.2d at 530. Ifthere are other adequate remedies available, or if 
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the public policy is sufficiently promoted through means other than a 

private suit, the public policy is not in jeopardy and a private cause of 

action need not be recognized. Korslund, 156 Wn.2d at 184. 

Becker cannot satisfy the jeopardy element because SOX and 

numerous other statutes and law enforcement mechanisms provide an 

adequate alternative remedy and sufficiently promote the public policy. 

Indeed, Becker is currently taking advantage of the federal administrative 

process by pursuing a SOX retaliation complaint before OSHA. (CP 209-

222) Becker's OSHA complaint is based on the same allegations as his 

state court Complaint and seeks the same relief. (CP 209-222, 724-48) 

As required by SOX, OSHA has conducted an investigation and issued a 

decision on the merits of Becker's claim. (A-042-043) Although OSHA 

found that Becker's SOX claim lacks merit, the SOX Decision confirms 

that Becker is covered under SOX and that the SOX administrative 

procedure is the correct avenue for Becker to seek relief. (A-042) Becker 

continues to pursue his SOX claim by appealing the SOX Decision and 

requesting a full hearing before an Administrative Law Judge. (A-055-

076) Becker is also entitled to file his SOX claim in U.S. District Court 

because more than 180 days have passed since he filed his SOX 

complaint. 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(b)(1). Becker's curious refusal to pursue 

this available remedy appears to be a calculated move to cloak the wide 
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array of remedies available to him. 

Remedies under SOX include "all relief necessary to make the 

employee whole." 18 U.S.C. §1514A(c)(1). The remedies available to 

Becker under SOX are just as robust as the remedies under the ERA at 

issue in Korslund. The following chart compares the remedies available to 

individuals who fall within the ambit ofthe ERA and SOX: 

SOX (Becker) ERA (Korslund) 
Complaint & ./ ./ 

Investigation 29 C.F.R. § 1980.104 29 C.F.R. § 24.103 
./ ./ 

ALJHearing 29 C.F.R. § 1980.107 29 C.F.R. § 24.100; 107 
./ ./ 

Discovery 29 C.F.R. § 18.13; 29 C.F.R. § 18.13 et. seq. 
29 C.F.R. § 1980.107 

./ ./ 
Open Public 29 C.F.R. § 18.43; 29 C.F.R. § 18.43 

Hearing 29 C.F.R. § 1980.107 
Findings of Fact ./ ./ 

and Conclusions of 29 C.F.R. § 1980.109 29 C.F.R. § 18.57 
Law by ALJ after 

Hearing 
./ ./ 

All relief to make Reinstatement to 
employee whole; employment on same 

reinstatement with terms; 
same seniority status; back pay; 

back pay with interest; compensatory damages; 

Remedies 
compensation for any attorney and expert fees; 

special damages orders to undertake 
including litigation affirmative action to 

costs, expert witness abate violations. 
fees, and reasonable 42 u.s.c. § 
attorneys' fees, plus 5851(b)(2)(B) 
emotional distress. 

Lockheed Martin Corp. 
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SOX (Becker) ERA. fKorslund) 
v. Administrative 

Review Bd., 717 F .3d 
1121, 1138 (lOth Cir. 

2013); 29 C.F.R. § 
1980.109(d)(l) 

Right to have ALJ -/ -/ 

decision reviewed 29 C.F.R. § 1980.110 29 C.F.R. § 24.110 
by Administrative 

Review Board 
Right to Judicial -/ -/ 

Review by U.S. 29 C.F.R. § 1980.112 29 C.F.R. § 112 
Circuit Court of 

Appeals 
Judicial -/ -/ 

Enforcement of 29 C.F.R. § 1980.113 29 C.F.R. § 24.113 
Decisions 

-/ -/ 

(3) Rights retained Nonpreemption. "This 
"Nothing in this section may not be 
section shall be construed to expand, 

deemed to diminish the diminish, or otherwise 
rights, privileges, or affect any right otherwise 

remedies of any available to an employee 
whistleblower under under Federal or State 
any Federal or State law to redress the 

law, or under any employee's discharge or 
collective bargaining other discriminatory 

Non-Exclusive agreement." action taken by the 
Nature of Statute 15 U.S.C. §78u-6(h)(3) employer against the 

employee." 
(d) Rights Retained 42 U.S.C. § 5851(h). 

by Employee.-
"Nothing in this 
section shall be 

deemed to diminish the 
rights, privileges, or 

remedies of any 
employee under any 

Federal or State law, or 
under any collective 

10 



SOX (Becker) ERA (Korslund) 
bargaining agreement." 
18 U.S.C. § 1514A(d). 

One would be hard pressed to find two cases more alike in terms of 

adequate alternative means to protect the public policy than Becker's case 

and Korslund. Based on the foregoing, Division III's conclusion that 

"Because Korslund and Cudney addressed different enforcement 

mechanisms, they do not dictate the outcome in Mr. Becker's case," is 

unsupportable and erroneous. Korslund is directly on point, and Becker's 

public policy claim must be dismissed. 

The Court of Appeals chose to contravene Korslund and 

Cudney, concluding they "overemphasized the abstract adequacy of 

statutes and regulations while forgetting the concrete public policy 

impact of chilling protected employee conduct." (Opinion at 10, A-

01 0) Instead of following precedent, the Court of Appeals relied upon 

the dissenting opinion in Cudney to support the Becker decision. The 

Court of Appeals does not have the authority to ignore Korslund. See 

State v. Gore, 101 Wn.2d 481, 487, 681 P.2d 227 (1984) (once the 

Supreme Court has decided an issue of state law, that interpretation is 

binding on all lower courts until it is overruled by the Supreme 

Court); 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 
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578, 146 P.3d 423 (2006) (when the Court of Appeals fails to follow 

directly controlling authority of the Supreme Court, it errs). 

This Court should accept review to ensure that its decisions in 

Korslund and Cudney are applied by the lower courts. 

2. Division III's Focus on the Non-Exclusiveness of SOX Is 
Erroneous 

The Court of Appeals erred by focusing solely on the non-

exclusivity clause in SOX to determine the adequacy of the protection 

it provides. Specifically, the Court found that SOX and section 922(a) 

of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 

of2010, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6, provide comprehensive whistleblower 

protections. (Opinion at p. 12, A-012) Despite the comprehensiveness 

of these protections, the Court of Appeals held that the SOX remedy 

was inadequate solely because SOX contains a non-exclusivity 

clause, citing Pie/ at 617. 

Division III's holding ignores the fact that the ERA statute at issue 

in Korslund has a similar provision to SOX regarding non-exclusivity. 

Compare 42 U.S.C. § 5851(h) to 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(d). Despite that 

provision, Korslund holds that the ERA provided the plaintiffs with 

adequate alternative remedies that precluded the pursuit of a public policy 

tort claim. Thus, a non-exclusivity clause in a federal statute cannot be 

12 



dispositive ofthe adequacy of a statutory remedy. 

In Cudney, this Court confirmed that a non-exclusivity clause 

does not by itself determine the adequacy of alternative remedies. 

Cudney emphasizes Korslund 's holding that statutory remedies may 

be adequate to protect the public policy, even though the statute at 

issue (ERA) is not mandatory and exclusive. Cudney, 172 Wn.2d at 

535 (citing Kors/und, 156 Wn. 2d at 182-83). The text ofthe 

majority's opinion in Cudney, in a portion of the opinion central to 

the holding, leaves no doubt that the current state of the law in 

Washington is that non-exclusivity of a federal alternative remedy is 

not a controlling factor on the jeopardy issue: 

The key question in Korslund was, in contrast, "whether other 
means of protecting the public policy [were] adequate so that 
recognition of a tort claim in these circumstances [was] 
unnecessary to protect the public policy." /d. In fact, Korslund 
specifically found that statutory remedies were adequate to 
protect the public policy, even though the United States 
Supreme Court has found that the same statute was not 
mandatory and exclusive. /d. at 182-83, 125 P.3d 119. Our 
analysis here should follow our reasoning in Korslund. Even if a 
similar statute is not mandatory and exclusive, as in Wilmont, 
WISHA is still adequate to protect public policy. Cudney, 172 
Wn.2d at 535 (emphasis added). 

Division III's focus on the non-exclusivity clause as the 

determining factor for whether a statute adequately protects a public 

policy reflects a misunderstanding of Pie/. In Pie/, the Supreme 

13 



Court held that the Washington Legislature's choice to allow a 

wrongfully discharged employee to pursue additional remedies 

beyond those provided by statute is the "strongest possible evidence" 

that the statutory remedies are not adequate to vindicate a violation of 

public policy. Pie/, 177 Wn.2d at 617. While Pie/ gives weight to 

what the Washington Legislature has pronounced, it does not hold 

that a non-exclusivity clause in a federal statute has the same effect 

on the jeopardy analysis. Rather, Pie/ makes clear that Korslund is 

still good law and instead distinguishes Korslund, stating: "No 

similar language was identified under the statutory schemes at issue 

in Korslund or Cudney." Pie/, 177 Wn.2d at 617. Because the 

federal statute at issue in Korslund contains a non-exclusivity clause, 

Pie/ can only be read to ascribe importance to non-exclusivity 

language when it is the dictate of the Washington Legislature. 

Congress' choice not to preempt state law is an issue of federal 

supremacy, not a directive to the courts that federal law is inadequate. 

Thus, a non-exclusivity clause in a federal statute does not carry the 

same directive as a non-exclusivity clause in a Washington state 

statute. 

Pie/ also made it clear that even if a non-exclusivity provision 
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is in place, a court must still analyze whether the administrative 

scheme at issue is adequate to "vindicate public policy." Pie/, 177 

Wn.2d at 617. Pie/ is consistent with Korslund, which set forth, at 

156 Wn.2d at 183, the reason for such analysis: 

[T]he question is not whether the legislature intended to 
foreclose a tort claim but whether other means of protecting the 
public policy are adequate so that recognition of a tort claim in 
these circumstances is unnecessary to protect the public policy. 

Here, Division III failed to conduct this required analysis. 

The Court of Appeals' apparent reliance solely on the non-exclusivity 

of SOX, despite recognizing that comprehensive federal and state 

remedies exist, is contrary to the holdings in both Korslund and

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