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

exactly-another exhibit at CP 861, 871 then showed Petitioner 

Rockwood Clinic, P.S. engaging in a "Reorganization and Merger 

Agreement" with CHS Washington Holdings LLC, a "Delaware Limited 

Liability Company ("Holdings")" (see above), an entity called Spokane 

Clinic Merger Co., P.S., a "Washington professional service corporation 

("Merger Co.")," which is not on Fordham's organizational chart either 

(see CP 279), and CHS/Community Health Systems, Inc., a Delaware 

Corporation ("CHS"-not CHS, Inc.), which is then upline from both 

"Holdings" and Rockwood on Fordham's chart. CP 861, 871, and 279. 

"Holdings" and "its Affiliates," the latter unnamed, "operate" the hospitals 

in the State of Washington. CP 871. 

CHS, Inc. had not in fact purchased Rockwood, as Mr. Becker 
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believed; instead, Rockwood was purchased by "an indirect subsidiary" of 

CHS, Inc., which merged with Rockwood-and then had Rockwood 

emerging "as the surviving corporation." CP 832, para. 5. This is not 

reflected on CP 279. 

The United States District Court agreed with Becker that his core 

claim was a state claim of constructive discharge, not a SOX claim, 

allowed Becker to remove reference to SOX as one of the laws Becker 

refused to violate, and remanded the case to the state trial court to address 

the state wrongful discharge claim. CP 749. Once back in the state court, 

CHS, Inc. (and Rockwood) then moved to dismiss the state public policy 

claims, arguing that SOX remedies were available to Becker, and Becker 

could therefore not avail himself of a public policy wrongful discharge 

tort. CP 802, 806. 

CHS PSC's Fordham filed a second declaration. CP 831-834. He 

attempted to explain why he, as an employee of CHS PSC, should be 

allowed to testify about companies which apparently did not employ him, 

from some "off the chart" entity. CP 831, para. 1 and 2 vs. CP 279. 

Fordham now explained that CHS, Inc. had 'jurisdictional contacts," and 

that part of his job was to monitor the lawsuits across the country in which 

CHS, Inc. had been named as a defendant. CP 832: 1-6. 
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Fordham went on to explain that even the logo of CHS, Inc. and the 

website were not as they seemed, and were not owned by CHS, Inc. CP 832 

at para. 3, para. 6.5 Fordham attached CHS's Form lOK, first page, which 

purports to explain why CHS, Inc. refers to everyone as "we." CP 841.6 In 

its website, CHS, Inc. says that its direct and indirect subsidiaries actually 

own and operate its 134 hospitals throughout the country.7 

The issue of which of entity actually employed CFO Becker, or 

operated in Washington, made its way to hearing in the state trial court as 

an indirect part of CHS, Inc. and Rockwood dismissal motions. By the 

time of hearing, Becker's counsel counted thirteen different CHS entities 

"straight line and sideways" referred to by various classifications. RP, 

The logo was actually owned by a different company, and was being licensed to 
CHS PSC. CP 832 at para. 3. Even CHS, Inc.'s website was not owned or operated 
by CHS. CP 832, para. 6. 

6 This is its explanation: 

CP 841. 

"Throughout this Form 10-K, we refer to Community Health Systems, 
Inc., or the Parent Company, and its consolidated subsidiaries in a 
simplified manner and on a collective basis, using words like "we" and 
"our." This drafting style is suggested by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, or SEC, and is not meant to indicate that the publicly 
traded Parent Company, or any other subsidiary of the Parent 
Company, owns or operates any assert, business, or property. The 
hospitals, operations, and businesses described in this filing are owned 
and operated, and management services provided, by distinct and 
indirect subsidiaries of Community Health Systems, Inc." 

The term "CHS" or the "Company" as used in the website is said to refer to 
"Community Health Systems, Inc. and its affiliates, unless otherwise stated or 
indicated by context. The term 'facilities' refers to entities owned or operated by 
subsidiaries or affiliates of Community Health Systems, Inc." CP 376. 
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July 27, 2012, p. 12: 9-13. CHS PSC, one of the two now petitioning 

employers, was still not listed on any of the charts or documents. App. 

122, App. 86; App. 212: 1-5. 1nat entity would tal1y fourteen entities 

total. It could not be determined if SOX applied. !d., p. 9: 21-p. 10: 6.8 

Even the entities CFO Becker had understood to be an integrated 

set of "acquired entities" in the Spokane area, which he himself was 

designed to oversee, were not as he believed them to be. CP 273 at para. 

7, and compare chart at 279. The company Becker thought he was 

working for in Spokane, "CHS, Inc." did not even function in the state of 

Washington. /d. As Becker's counsel noted, "That's not a parent 

subsidiary structure, that's a mess ... " RP, July 27. 2012, p. 11: 17-18. 

The trial court agreed. It noted the "plethora of corporate entities, 

many of which have almost the same name .... [M]ost all of them call 

themselves Community Health Systems in some fashion or another. 

Maybe it is doing business as, or whatever, but this is a very complicated 

way to do business." RP, July 27, 2012, p. 51: 17-24. The court likened 

Becker theorized that CHS Washington Holdings, LLC, a Delaware corporation, did 
business as Rockwood Clinic, P.S., which had merged with "Rockwood Clinic Real 
Estate Holdings," a Delaware corporation, which merged with "CHS Washington 
Holdings, LLC," a Delaware corporation; that also merged with "Spokane Clinic 
Merger Co.," and that also merged with CHS Community Health Systems, Inc., 
which was depicted as being in an upline path, and which did business as "CHS" and 
"Community Health Systems." ld., p. 11: 7-16. But as CHS PSC's Fordham noted, 
Rockwood's owner, Delaware Limited Liability Company "CHS Washington 
Holdings LLC, was actually also a "class B member of Rockwood." CP 272, para. 
6, and279. 
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the CHS corporate entities to "a bowl of spaghetti at this point, I am not 

sure exactly what it looks like." RP 81: 1-6. The trial court never 

determined who employed Becker. RP July 27, 2012 at 52-53. But it did 

dismiss CHS, Inc. as a named defendant on CHS, Inc.'s claim that it did 

not employer Becker. It kept "CHS PSC'' as the CHS Defendant. CP 

918-19; RP July 27, 2012, p. 58:21-25. 

Colloquy with "CHS PSC" counsel as to the rest of the 

presentation is illustrative: 

"MR. KEEHNEL: Your Honor, there never was actually a 
ruling on CHS PSC's separate little motion about can you 
name a defendant as a ... " 

THE COURT: I think what I said, counsel, is that I am 
going to rule that you are a defendant in this case. 

MR. KEEHNEL: Okay. 

THE COURT: Part of this might be because CHS, shall we 
say, has a lot of entities, People can get confused and, 
frankly, I think Mr. Becker was somewhat confused. 

MR. KEEHNEL: Finally, Your Honor, with CHS PSC 
having joined in the motion, given this very interesting 
issue that you just addressed with Mr. Allen .... " 

THE COURT: The end." 

RP, July 27, 2012, p. 84: 9-24. 

The trial court's September 7, 2012 order denying CHS PSC's 
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motion to dismiss Becker's public policy tort claims declines to make 

findings, and states only this: 

"1. Community Health System Professional Service 
Corporation's motion to dismiss is DENIED. 

1. The plaintiffs action shall proceed against the 
following two defendants: (I) Community Health Systems 
Professional Services Corporation and (2) Rockwood 
Clinic P.S." 

CP 1322. 

Rockwood's motion to dismiss was also denied. CP 1025. 

C. Division III. 

In understated fashion, Petitioners footnote how Division III's ruling 

"erroneously" names CHS, Inc., as the appellant Petition, p. I, Ftnte. 1. 

CHS, Inc., the SOX reporting company, is dismissed. 

D. The Administrative OSHA Process. 

Meanwhile, back in the federal OSHA proceeding, CHS, Inc. and 

Rockwood both argued via a 27-page letter to OSHA that Becker had no 

remedy under SOX, because SOX did not apply to Becker's situation. 

CP 1282-1308; CP 1287, para 2, CP 1296 at A; CP 1299 at C. CHS, Inc. 

and Petitioner Rockwood defended themselves from the application of 

SOX by claiming that SOX does not apply to the conduct at issue for six 

different reasons, including that the figures Becker was directed to falsify 

were "forward looking statements" not covered by SOX. CP 1299, 1287. 
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They argued that the financial numbers would "never be reported to the 

public." CP 1287, "First," and 1296 at A. They argued that no SOX 

implications existed because of"safe harbor'' regulatory rules. CP 1299 at 

C. They argued that no SOX violation could exist because the figures 

being required to be reported were immaterial. CP 1287. And of course, 

they argued that since Becker had refused to falsify information or violate 

the law, neither Petitioner had ever reported false financial information. 

CP 931.9 

By September 25, 2012, OSHA's Department's investigator 

responded to CHS, Inc. that it had no idea when its investigation of the 

February 25, 2012 complaint would start: 

"I have many cases ahead of this one, and it will probably 
be quite a while before you hear back from me regarding 
this investigation." 

CP 1072. 

9 The SOX statute is a whistleblower statute, per its very title: "a) Wbistleblower 
protection for employees of publicly traded companies." /8 USCA § 1 514A. The 
existing violation reported must be a violation of certain very specific statutes: 
"[T]he plain, unambiguous text of § 1514A(aXl) establishes six categories of 
employer conduct against which an employee is protected from retaliation for 
reporting: violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (mail fraud), § 1343 (wire fraud), § 1344 
(bank fraud), § 1348 (securities fraud), any rule or regulation of the SEC, or any 
provision of federal law relating to fraud against shareholder~." Lockheed Martin 
Corp. v. Admin. Review Bd., U.S. Dep't of Labor, 717 F.3d 1121, 1130 (lOth Cir. 
2013), emphasis added; and, e.g., Van Asda/e v. lnternalional Game Technology, 
577 F.3d 989, 997 (()II> Cir. 2009) (where an employee reported existing conduct of 
others that was believed to be shareholder fraud). 
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Two and a half years later, on July 23, 2014, OSHA's "Assistant 

Secretary," whose credentials are unknown, issued a one page decision 

finding that SOX "applies to CHS, Inc." A-42-43, Petition for Review. 

There is no finding that SOX applies to the petitioner here-"CHS PSC." 

Neither CHS, Inc. nor Rockwood appealed the Secretary's findings. 10 

The reason why the Assistant Secretary denied Becker any SOX 

remedy remains unclear. Becker told OSHA that he was "forced to resign" 

in his complaint, but the OSHA finding is simply that Becker had "resigned" 

his position. A-042, 045, 046. OSHA appears not to recognize 

Washington's concept of constructive discharge as retaliation. See 

Objections to Investigator's Finding, A-055 at (1) and (2). Or, since the 

Petitioners took the position that, e.g., the information Becker was directed 

to falsify was not information covered by SOX, or that, e.g., because 

Becker refused to violate the law, he was not "reporting existing 

violations" and could not obtain SOX protection, then Petitioners' 

arguments could also have been the reason. Whatever OSHA's rationale, 

one thing is clear-SOX is not available to Mr. Becker on his facts. 

10 The OSHA ruling "fmds" that SOX applies to Rockwood, because, the finding goes, 
Rockwood is a subsidiary of the reporting company CHS, Inc. But CHS, lnc!s flow 
chart submitted in the state and federal district COW'tS show that Rockwood is not a 
subsidiary of CHS, Inc., but is owned by the Delaware Limited Liability Company 
"CHS Washington Holdings LLC," which is a "class B member of Rockwood." CP 
272, para. 6, and 279. 
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IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED 

The original public policy tort was defined in Thompson v. St. 

Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, in circumstances nearly identical to 

Becker's. ld., and see Pie/ v. City of Fed Way, 177 Wn.2d 604, 609 

(20 13 ). The claim thereafter applied generally in four areas, the first of 

which applies to Becker: "(1) where the discharge was a result ofrefusing 

to commit an illegal act, (2) where the discharge resulted due to the 

employee perfonning a public duty or obligation, (3) where the 

[discharge] resulted because the employee exercised a legal right or 

privilege, and (4) where the discharge was premised on employee 

'whistleblowing' activity." Id., citing Dicomes v. State, 113 Wn.2d 618 

(1989). The Petitioners' argument is directed to the fourth area, which is 

not implicated here. 11 The tort became more complicated for practitioners 

11 The precedent cited by CHSIR.ockwood are also whistleblower "reporting" cases, 
i.e., the employee reports existing law violations by others. See Korslund v. 
DynCorp Tri-Cities Servs .. Inc., 156 Wn.2d 168, 172-173 (2005)(where the claim 
was for retaliation and harassment for the plaintiffs' reports of existing safety 
violations, mismanagement, and fraud at the Hanford Nuclear Reservation; Cudney 
v. Alsco, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 524, 530 (2011)(employee reported other people's existing 
safety violations, and received whistleblower status; employee was not directed to 
himself violate the law}; Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co., 335 P.3d 440, 476, 
478 (2014) (Rose claimed that his employer had violated the Jaw, and the law 
violated was a particular federal Act, which specifically prohibited an employer from 
terminating an employee for refusing to violate that Act. In Weiss v. Lonnquist, 173 
Wn.App. 344 (2013)), an attorney refused to engage in "unethical" conduct, not 
illegal conduct, under the Rules of Professional Conduct. Unethical behavior is not 
necessarily illegal. Weiss also conceded that the disciplinary rules of the bar offered 
her an alternative means of protecting that public policy of candor towards the 
tribunal. 

16 



and courts when a four part test was adopted under Gardner v. Loomis 

Armored, Inc., 128 Wn.2d 931, 941 (1996). A clarified criteria now 

required that the employee show a 'jeopardy" element, specifically, that 

"discouraging the conduct in which [the employee] engaged would 

jeopardize the public policy." Pie/, 177 Wn.2d at 610.12 But this language 

was then further enhanced to the point of generating a veritable litany of 

appellate efforts to properly apply it. 13 A later analysis then requires a 

plaintiff to show, in establishing jeopardy, that other means for promoting 

the policy are inadequate, and that the plaintiffs actions were the only 

available adequate means to promote the public policy. !d., at 625, citing 

Cudney v. Alsea, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 524, 530 (2011). But Petitioners' 

comparing SOX remedies to constructive discharge remedies in this 

Petition for satisfaction of the jeopardy element is meaningless now that 

Petitioners have filed evidence showing that SOX provides no remedy for 

12 An employee may recover for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy under 
a test which examines (I) the existence of a "clear public policy" ("clarity" element), 
(2) whether "discouraging the conduct in which [the employee) engaged would 
jeopardize the public policy" ("jeopardy" element), (3) whether the "public-policy
linked conduct caused the discharge" ("causation" element), and ( 4) whether the 
employer is "able to offer an overriding justification for the [discharge]" ("absence 
of justification" element). Gardner, 128 Wn.2d at 941; Pie/ v. City of Fed. Way, 117 
Wn.2d at 610. 

13 As noted by Becker v. CHS, Inc.'s concurring J. Fearing, "Gardner went beyond 
listing jeopardy as one of the four elements of the tort of wrongful discharge. The 
landmark decision added a fluffy description of the element, fraught with ambiguity 
and nuance that created the puzzlement about which I write." Becker, 332 P.3d at 
1095, referencing Gardner, 128 Wn.2d at 945. 
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Becker, for one unexplained reason or another. 

V. CONCLUSION. 

This state's public policy tort claim for wrongful discharge 

remains the only adequate means to protect the public from companies 

who demand that their employees violate the law, or lose their job, and for 

employees who resign instead of violating the law. Division III's ruling 

can only be affirmed in light of the OSHA evidence now in the record, as 

Becker's facts no longer conflict with any of the precedent cited. The 

petition should be denied. 

In the alternative, if this court accepts review, then it should affirm 

and expand Division III's ruling to return the law of constructive 

discharge to something short of the complexity of patent litigation. The 

present Jaw applied per the Petitioners' theories could well eviscerate the

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